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Hall Chadwick is a member of PrimeGlobal, one of the five largest associations of 
independent accounting firms in the world. We deliver chartered accounting and 
business advisory services from nine offices across the country.

Each Hall Chadwick practice has expertise in Accounting, Taxation, Business 
Migration, Audit, Insolvency and Reconstruction and provides other specialist 
services.

In the everchanging global economy, Australia provides immense opportunities for 
international business. The combination of a highly qualified work force, extensive 
infrastructure, natural resources and a familiar legal system to most parts of the 
world is the reason why international businesses, both small and large, are coming 
“down-under”.

In addition to our own services, Hall Chadwick is able to make introductions to other 
key service providers in various sectors including practitioners in law, banking,  and 
finance, recruitment and property.

Global thinking. Local understanding. Personal connections. 

Our experience is that businesses are  investing in Australia for our consistent 

and strong economic growth, the stability of the banking system and 

independence of the judiciary.
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Making important 

decisions on imperfect 

information creates risk.

In our experience, practical 

advice from connected 

advisors

is the best safety net.
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 Australia is the world’s sixth largest country and 
offers international investors a commercially 
progressive and innovative business 
environment. 

The economy is based on the free enterprise 
system and certain sectors are subject to 
government regulation.

The Australian government is a parliamentary 
democracy following the English Common 
Law system. There are six states and two 
self-governing territories, each with its own 
legislative, executive and judicial arms of 
government.

Our fast growing 25.4 million population is 
culturally diverse with 28% of the population 
born overseas. The national language is English 
and 3.2 million Australians speak an Asian 
language and 1.4 million speak a European 
language. Three state capital cities rank in the 
top 10 most livable cities in the world.

GEOGRAPHY & DEMOGRAPHICS 

The numerous advantages of locating in 
Australia have made the country the location of 
choice for the regional headquarters of many 
multinational corporations.

Located in the Asia Pacific, Australia’s proximity 
to Asia is one major reason as well as an 
extensive well-educated and trained workforce 
boasting multi-skilled and multi-lingual 
personnel, a temperate climate and relatively 
low crime rates.

The national language is English. However, the 
country maintains an extremely diverse and 
cosmopolitan flavour enriched by a vast array 
of people from European, Asian and many 
other backgrounds as well as an indigenous 
population.

The multicultural nature is reflected in the many 
religious denomination, specialised media and 
schools, and of course, the cuisines of the world 
that are an important part of the culture. People 
who migrate to Australia can be sure to find 
facilities to meet their needs.

Australia has a stable economy for investment 
and has enjoyed rapid growth. Australia’s 
industrial and rural industries have adopted 
world best practices and our technology and 
communications development and uptake is 
amongst the leading countries in the world. 
Despite its relatively small population, the 
Australian economy is the 13th largest in the 
world.

TIME ZONE

 As the first major financial centre to open each 
day, Australia provides a time zone that bridges the 
closing of the US and the opening of the European 
markets.

With the Australian business day overlapping 
those of the US, Asia and Europe, firms that seek to 
operate internationally, 24 hours a day, use this time 
zone to their advantage.

That is why Australia is rapidly becoming the 
customer support centre for the region. Australia’s 

About
Australia
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ease of interaction and cultural affinity allows 
businesses to seamlessly integrate business 
activities while operating within the same time 
zone as major Asian markets.

The time difference between Australia and much 
of Asia, including Singapore, Hong Kong, Malaysia, 
and India varies from 2 – 6 hours. The ability of 
companies to service their Asian clients in ‘real 
time’ is an attractive advantage. 

POLITICAL SYSTEM

The Australian political system is extremely 
stable. The country has three levels of 
government - Local, State and Federal. Australia 
has been a democratic country since its 
inception.

Initially individual states operated as colonies. 
On 1 January 1901, the states united to become 
The Commonwealth of Australia.

Australia is comprised of states and territories. 
The six states of Australia are: New South Wales, 
Queensland, Victoria, South Australia, Western 
Australia, and Tasmania. The two mainland 
territories of Australia are: Australian Capital 
Territory and Northern Territory.

 FEDERAL GOVERNMENT

Federal Government derives its power under 
the Australian Constitution.

Its responsibilities include collection of income 
tax, defence, foreign affairs, immigration, social 
security, communications, trade practices, 
commerce and insurance law.  The government is 
divided into an “upper” and “lower” house being 
the “Senate” and “House of Representatives” 
respectively. Both houses of federal parliament 
sit in Canberra. Bills introduced into federal 
parliament must be passed by both the upper 
and lower house to become law.
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BANKING & CURRENCY

Minimal exchange controls exist. The system of 
monitoring transactions with known tax havens 
has ceased. Rather, anti-avoidance tax rules 
have been increased. One requirement is for 
entities to advise movement of currency into or 
out of Australia exceeding $10,000.

Hall Chadwick has very close relations with 
senior personnel in most Australian Banks. 
We are able to make necessary introductions 
to streamline the process of setting up your 
banking facilities.

 LEGAL SYSTEM

The Australian legal system is based on the 
English legal system where laws are created 
by statutes enacted by a parliament, and also 
through the decisions of the various Federal, 
State and Territory courts. 

Australia has different Court structures for the 
Commonwealth, States and Territories, each 
having different jurisdiction. 

The High Court (the superior federal court of 
Australia) is the highest Court in the Australian 
courts hierarchy and is the ultimate and final 
court of appeal in Australia. The High Court gains 
its authority from the Australia Constitution, 
as outlined in Chapter III of the Constitution. 
Appeals to the High Court can only take place 
by special leave of the court which requires the 
appellant to apply for special leave, and for the 
High Court to grant it. 

In terms of its authority or positioning in 
respect to the three bodies of power under the 
Australian Constitution (Separation of Powers), 
the High Court is the Judiciary and powers 
can be conferred on it through the Legislature 
(Parliament). 

The state and territory courts system is separate 
from the Federal system, the NSW Court of 
Appeal (NSWCA) is therefore a lower court to the 

STATE GOVERNMENT

State Governments have responsibility for 
education, police, health facilities, energy 
and mining among other things. The State 
Governments across Australia have similar but 
not identical laws. Businesses operating in a 
particular State or Territory need to be aware 
of various taxes and other laws. The main taxes 
(including state taxes) are covered in chapter 5 
of this publication. However, there are no state 
income tax laws.

 LOCAL GOVERNMENT

Local government is elected by the residents 
of each specific municipality. Their powers are 
rather limited and usually cover such issues 
as environmental, land development and other 
“local” concerns.

CLIMATE

Australia’s climate ranges from tropical 
(monsoonal) in the north to temperate in the 
south. In the southern cities, temperatures are 
cool in winter and warm in summer.

Northern cities are warm in winter and hot in 
summer. The climate in the major cities and 
regional centres is generally moderate. The 
extreme temperatures are only found in sparsely 
inhabited areas.

Australia is a relatively dry continent, so while 
there might be rainfalls of 2500mm (100in) in 
parts of Northern Queensland, generally rainfall 
in the cities is lightly spread throughout the year.

About Australia

It has been said that in Queensland the 
weather is beautiful one day, perfect 
the next. While a country as large as 
Australia is bound to have a number 
of different climates, this statement is 
an adequate description of Australia’s 

climate in most regions.
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All employees must receive the Fair Work 
Information Statement which outlines on these 
minimum entitlements in detail.

Under the NES, an employer is required to 
provide a permanent employee with at least 
the following minimum periods of notice of 
termination, or a payment in lieu of notice at 
least the amount of remuneration the employee 
would have received at the employee’s full rate 
of pay until then end of the minimum period of 
notice. ‘Modern Awards’ are another important 
source of workplace obligations, that set rules 
for example, minimum pay rates, overtime 
and penalty rates, and other entitlements, 
depending on the industry or occupation in 
question. The Fair Work Commission (FWC) 
determines the scope of Modern Awards. The 
FWC also decides unfair dismissal claims and 
other industrial claims.

The Fair Work Ombudsman (FWO) ensures 
employers uphold key obligations arising under 
the NES and Modern Awards. 

In addition, employers must provide other 

important employee entitlements:

 » Contribute a sum to a superannuation fund 
at a rate of 9.5% of their employees’ salary. 
This rate is set to 2021. From 2021, this rate 
will gradually increase to reach 12%, by 
2025.

 » Take out workers compensation insurance 
to cover employees injured in the course of 
or arising out of their employment. Workers 
compensation insurance must be provided 
by a state government approved insurer.

 » In NSW, provide long service leave after 
a qualifying period of 10 years of service. 
The usual entitlement is for 2 months leave 
for 10 years service. Some States have 
different rules, for example, providing for 
three months leave for 10 years’ service, or 
a qualifying period in some cases after 5 
years.

High Court of Appeal.  However, the state courts 
can sometimes exercise federal jurisdiction and 
sit within the federal court system.

The Supreme Court os NSW is the highest court 
within the NSW court hierarchy.  The NSW 
Court of Appeal (NSWCA) is a division of the 
Supreme Court of NSW which hears appeals of 
civil matters from the Supreme Court of NSW 
and lower (or inferior) courts.  There are two 
lower courts in NSW, the District Court and the 
Magistrates/Local Courts being the lowest. 

The legal profession is split into two groups of 
practitioners: solicitors and barristers. Normally 
if an individual wished to commence legal 
proceedings that person would first consult 
a solicitor and if the matter went to court this 
would then be dealt with by the barrister.

The independence of the judiciary from 
government is protected by the Australian 
Constitution.

EMPLOYMENT & IMMIGRATION

In Australia, the Fair Work Act (Act) sets out the 

National Employment Standards (NES), which 

are 10 minimum employee entitlements. These 

include:

 » Maximum weekly hours based on a standard 
week of 38 hours. Some employers operate 
on a 35 hour or 37.5 hour week.

 » Requests for flexible working arrangements.

 » Parental leave and related parental 
entitlements.

 » Annual leave.

 » Personal carers’ and compassionate leave 
of up to 2 days per occasion.

 » Community service leave.

 » Long service leave.

 » Public holidays.

 » Notice of termination and redundancy pay.
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 » Provide public holidays required under 
State or Territory law, in addition to the 8 
public holidays required by the NES. Each 
state may also declare additional public 
holidays.

An employment contract attributes rights and 
responsibilities between an employee and 
an employer. Terms and policies should be 
set out clearly. Employment contracts should 
be properly drafted, vetted by an Australian 
solicitor and signed by both the employee and 
the employer.

For more information on visa, working 
conditions, income tax and tax planning 
considerations, please refer to: 

Working In Australia 
A Tax Guide for Employees

IMPORT & EXPORT ISSUES

IMPORT

All goods imported into Australia must be cleared 
by customers, whether they are imported by 
air, sea or post. Customs duty and Goods & 
Services Tax (GST) may apply to goods entering 
Australia. 

Customs duty rates vary and depend upon a 
number of factors including the type of goods 
and the country of origin. Goods regarded as 
being hazardous or dangerous are subject to 
import controls.

EXPORT

Export of goods from Australia is regulated by 
various laws and Government policies.

The thrust of these laws is to prohibit the export of 
certain goods either absolutely or conditionally; 
and record Australia’s international trade.

Where goods are “conditionally” exported a 
permit may be required.

About Australia

https://www.hallchadwick.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/HC_DBIA_Employees-Tax-Guide_2021.pdf
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An Export Market Development grant maybe 
available in certain circumstances, see next 
chapter. 

The Export Finance and Insurance Commission  
(EFIC) assists Australian businesses that export 
goods or services with mainly Australian 
content. Finance for overseas customers 
purchasing Australian goods may be available. 
In addition, insurance for performance bonds 
and unfair calling on contracts may also be 
available.

  THE ECONOMY 

Australia’s economy is considered one of the 
strongest, most stable and diverse in the world. 
In 2020, Australia entered its 30th year of 
uninterrupted annual economic growth. In terms 
of Gross Domestic Product (GDP), Australia’s 
GDP per capita was valued at US$55,306 in 2019 
as compared to US at $65,112, UK at $42,385, 
Singapore at $63,987 and Germany at $46,334. 

Over the past decade, Australia has a strong 
skills base, high quality education and training 
institutions, advanced physical infrastructure, 
and adoption and usage rates for information 
technology which are among the highest in 
the world. Our strong civil institutions underpin 
a free society and encourage free enterprise. 
Australia’s cultural diversity gives Australian 
society a vigour and capacity to adapt rapidly 
to new opportunities. It is also a rich source 
of language and other skills which help us do 
business in a global economy.
 
The Australian economy is based on the free 
enterprise system, and is subject to some 
government regulation over certain sectors. A 
number of public utilities are privately operated 
including power, airlines and communications.

Australian industry has for a long period of 
time been protected by a broadly based tariff 
system. This system is now being phased out, 
and is giving way to a largely deregulated 

economy, although minor tariffs still apply in 
some industries.
 
There is also a broad system of social services, 
including pensions and unemployment benefits. 
Australia is a highly developed country with a 
relatively high standard of living. 
 

BASIC RESOURCES

The country is well endowed with natural 
resources and produces major quantities of 
bauxite, beach sand minerals, iron ore, lead and 
zinc, as well as significant quantities of nickel, 
copper, coal and uranium.

In the face of a drying climate and growing 
demand for water, the Australian Government 
provides national agenda in water policy and 
legislation reform. This involves resource 
management planning and policy as well as 
providing funding to infrastructure projects.

MAJOR INDUSTRIES

Australia has a strong services-based economy 
driven by wealth management, healthcare, 
education, tourism, IT, R&D and professional 
services industries.

With its abundance of natural resources, 
Australia has a significant mining industry 
that provides a reasonable percentage of the 
country’s total export income. In recent years 
there has been a dramatic growth in tourism in 
Australia.

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES

The Australian agribusiness sector occupies 
a significant place in the Australian economy 
and has a strong track record in attracting 
international investment throughout the 
agricultural supply chain. As a major exporter 
of agricultural produce and services, more than 
two thirds of agricultural commodities produced 
on farms are exported each year. Over the 
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past twenty years, the production and exports 
of beef, sheep, wine, dairy, horticulture and 
biofuel products have increased significantly 
in response to growing overseas demand for 
higher value products. The country’s significant 
mineral and energy resources continue to 
power Asia’s industrialisation.
 

FOREIGN TRADE

The economy is heavily dependent on high 
levels of exports and imports. Our major trading 
partners are Japan and the United States, 
followed by New Zealand, the United Kingdom, 
Germany, Canada, India and China. Trade with 
countries in South East Asia and the Asia-
Pacific Rim continues to grow in volume and in 
its importance to Australia.

EMPLOYMENT

Although there has historically been a strong 
commitment to full employment in Australia, 
this goal has not been achieved in recent years, 
with the current level of unemployment at 
January 2020 is 4.8%.

The pattern of employment has also changed 

in recent years with the following features 

standing out:

 » high growth of employment in the finance 
industry and tourism.

 » the services sector is now by far the biggest 
employer, employing over two-thirds of the 
workforce.

 » more multinational corporations are 
using Australia as a regional centre and 
particularly for their R&D base.

STANDARD OF LIVING

Considering the relatively small population, 
Australian living standards are high. Average 
weekly earnings are good by world standards, 
as is the proportion of home ownership. 

Education standards are also high, resulting in 
a generally well-trained workforce.

INTEREST RATES

Australia’s interest rates are largely influenced 
by the Reserve Bank (RBA). This is set to effect 
the Government’s fiscal policy to provide wide 
economic fluctuation.

The benchmark RBA rate has been at a 
record low of 0.75% as at February 2020. The 
commercial default rate set by the ATO is 5.37%.           

INFLATION

Over the past few years the underlying rate of 
inflation has fallen dramatically. It has fallen 
to its current level of 1.82%. There is a general 
feeling that comparatively low inflation will be 
a feature of the Australian economy for some 
time.

EXCHANGE CONTROLS

Exchange control approval is not required for 
any transactions involving the inflow of funds 
to Australia with the exception of interest 
bearing investments by foreign governments, 
government agencies and international 
organisations.

Reporting of cash transactions is mandatory 
under the Cash Transactions Reports Act which 
is designed to counter money laundering and 
taxation evasion.

GOVERNMENT ECONOMIC & FISCAL POLICY

The government’s main objectives have been 
to reduce inflation and to achieve moderate 
growth in the economy in order to maintain 
employment levels. The government has also 
moved substantially towards a deregulated 
economy in an attempt to make Australian 
industries, particularly the manufacturing 
industry, more competitive with the rest of the 

About Australia
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT TAX INCENTIVE

The R&D Tax Incentive is administered jointly 
by the Australian Tax Office and AusIndustry 
(on behalf of Innovation Australia). It provides 
targeted R&D tax offsets designed to encourage 
more companies to engage in R&D.

The R&D tax incentive aims to boost 

competitiveness and improve productivity 

across the Australian economy by:

 » encouraging industry to conduct R&D that 
may not otherwise have been conducted

 » improving the incentive for smaller firms to 
undertake R&D

 » providing business with more predictable, 
less complex support.

Prior to 1 July 2021, the incentive has two core 
components, as follows: 

 » a 43.5% refundable tax offset for eligible 
entities with an aggregated turnover of 
less than $20M per annum, provided they 
are not controlled by income tax exempt 
entities;

 » a 38.5% non-refundable tax offest for all 
other eligible entities (entities may be able 
to carry forward unused offest amounts to 
future income years).

The Australian Government actively encourages new investments and 

businesses who look to develop an innovative product or process.

AUSTRADE

Austrade is the Australian government agency 
that helps international companies build 
their business in Australia. The agency offers 
comprehensive and confidential assistance, 
saving valuable time and money. There are 
investment advisory specialists around the 
world, including New York, San Francisco, 
London, Paris, Frankfurt, Singapore, Tokyo, 
Shanghai, and Beijing.

The Australian government also provides a 
range of state and federal incentives for new 
investments and innovative business.

GRANTS & INCENTIVES

EXPORT MARKET DEVELOPMENT GRANTS (EMDG)

The EMDG Scheme provides assistance to small 
and medium Australian exporters committed 
to, and capable of, seeking out and developing 
export business by repaying part of their 
promotional expenses. Applicants may qualify 
for reimbursement of eligible export marketing 
expenses above $15,000 per annum of costs 
exceeding $5,000.

Government
Support & Incentives
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From 1 July 2021, where a company engages in 
R & D:

 » For companies with an aggregated turnover 
of $20 million or more, there is a two-tiered 
premium that ties the rates of non-refundable 
R&D tax offset to the incremental intensity 
of the R&D expenditure as a proportion of 
total expenditure for the year.  The new rates 
will be the claimant’s company tax rate plus: 

• 8.5 percentage points for R&D for 
expenditure up to 2 per cent R&D 
intensity

• 16.5 percentage points for R&D 
expenditure above 2 per cent R&D 
intensity

 » For companies with an aggregated turnover 
below $20 million, the refundable R&D tax 
offset will be a premium of 18.5 percentage 
points above the claimant’s company tax 
rate. 

Aggregated turnover is the sum of the annual 

turnover for all of the following:

 » the R&D entity

 » any entity connected with the R&D entity

 » any entity affiliated with the R&D entity.

Any dealings between these entities are 
excluded. 

EARLY STAGE INNOVATION COMPANY (ESIC)

An ‘angel investor’ providing capital for start-up 
or expansion of a new or small business venture 
may be eligible for the Early Stage Innovation 
Company (ESIC) federal grant. 

The tax incentives provide eligible investors 

who purchase new shares in an ESIC with a:

 » Non-refundable carry forward tax offset 
equal to 20% of the amount paid for their 
qualifying investments. This is capped at a 

maximum tax offset amount of $200,000 for 
the investor and their affiliates combined in 
each income year.

 » Modified capital gains tax (CGT) treatment, 
under which capital gains on qualifying 
shares that are continuously held for at least 
12 months and less than ten years may be 
disregarded. Capital losses on shares held 
less than ten years must be disregarded.

ACCELERATING COMMERCIALISATION

The Accelerating Commercialisation program 
is designed to help businesses bring 
novel products and services they wish to 
commercialise and be one of the following:

 » An Australian company

 » A commercialisation office or Eligible 
Partner Entities

 » Individuals, partnerships or trustees who 
agree to form an eligible corporation.

There are many more incentives and concessions 
given by the federal and state governments and 
those listed are only examples of the major 
incentives and concessions available at the 
time of this publication.
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world.
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Australia is a global top 10 destination for Foreign Direct Investment with US$62b 

invested in 2018.

Foreign
Investment

FOREIGN INVESTMENT REVIEW BOARD

The Foreign Investment Review Board (FIRB) 
and the “Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers 
Act 1975” are used to examine proposals by 
foreign interests to undertake direct investment 
in Australia and to make recommendations to 
the government under its foreign investment 
policy.

Certain investments must be notified to the FIRB.
Generally acquisitions of shares in, or assets of, 
businesses or developed commercial properties 
valued at $50 million or more, or $800 million 
or more for a US investor, require approval, as 
do all acquisitions in the specific industries 
that are considered sensitive to the economic 
well-being of the country, in particular banking, 
telecommunications, shipping, civil aviation, 
airports, the media and residential real estate.

Proposals by foreign interests to invest in 

Australia of the following must be notified to 

FIRB for approval:

 » Vacant non-residential land

 » Residential real estate (with some 
exemptions including new dwellings bought 
from a developer)

 »  Shares/units in Australian companies 

and trust which holds substantially land 
(with some exemptions including listed 
companies and trusts)

 » Direct investments by foreign government 
into new businesses or acquisition of 
interest/land.

All other acquisitions (including shares or 
assets of an Australian business) should be 
notified if the target is valued at or above the 
applicable monetary threshold set by the 
Australia’s Foreign Investment Policy or the 
Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975.

Due to the coronavirus, all proposed foreign 
investments subject to the Foreign Acquisition 
and Takeovers Act 1975 will require approval by 
FIRB , regardless of value or nature of the foreign 
investor.  There are temporary measures that 
will remain for the duration of the coronavirus 
crisis. 

A foreign person is defined as: 

 » a natural person not ordinarily resident in 
Australia

 » any company or trust structure in which:

 » 20% or more of the substantial/controlling 
interest is held by any one foreign natural 
person or foreign corporation
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A substantial foreign interest occurs 
when a single foreigner (and any 

associates) has 15 per cent or more of 
the ownership or several foreigners 

(and any associates) have 40 per cent 
or more in aggregate of the ownership 
of any corporation, business or trust.

 » 40% or more of the aggregated substantial/
controlling interest is held by one or 
more foreign natural person or foreign 
corporation. 

 » a foreign government

 » any other person, or any other person that 
meets the conditions, prescribed by the 
regulations. 

Acquisitions of residential real estate are exempt 

from examination in the case of:

 » Australian citizens living abroad purchasing 
either in their own name or through an 
Australian corporation or trustforeign 
nationals purchasing (as joint tenants)

 » with their Australian citizen spouse 

 » foreign nationals who are the holders of 
permanent resident visas or are  holders,  or 
are entitled  to  hold,  a  ‘special  category 
visa’ purchasing either in their own name or 
through  an  Australian  corporation  or  trust

 » foreign nationals who buy new dwellings 
from a developer that has pre-approval to 
sell to foreign persons. 

FIRB approval process

The application form and process to FIRB 
will depend on who is applying. Electronic 
lodgement (via email or fax) is preferred for 
all applications. Forms for applications vary 
depending on the type of acquisition and the 
purchaser. We can provide the required forms 

and guidelines upon request.

The application process normally takes 30 days 
from date of receipt of application. In some 
cases FIRB may issue the applicant with a 
statutory notice to extend the decision date by 
an additional 10 days. In certain circumstance 
FIRB may extend the process by a further 90 
days if necessary.

This process may require up to six months 
during the coronavirus epidemic. 

Fees to get FIRB approval

From 1 December 2015, an application fee will 
be charged to foreign investors who want to 
purchase Australian property. It is expected that 
the purchaser will pay around $5,000-$100,000 
depending on their situation, the property value 
and property type. For more information, the full 
list of fees is set out in the FIRB Guidance Note 
10. 

Non-final foreign resident withholding tax

A purchaser is required to pay 12.5% of 
the purchase price to the ATO at or before 
settlement. The regime only applies if the vendor 
is a “foreign resident” which in broad terms 
is a person or entity that is not an Australian 
resident for tax purposes.

The 12.5% withholding tax will not apply in 

certain situations, including where:

 » a vendor provides a qualifying declaration 
that it is an Australian tax resident

 » a vendor provides a qualifying declaration 
that the shares or units are not “indirect 
Australian real property interests”

 » the transaction is on an approved stock 
exchange

 » a variation is sought from the ATO to reduce 
the withholding tax rate. 
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Foreign ownership cap for New Dwelling Exemption 

Certificates

A 50 per cent cap on the total amount of dwellings 
a developer can sell to foreign persons under a 
New Dwelling Exemption Certificate has been 
introduced made from 9 May 2017. Applications 
submitted prior to 9 May 2017 are not subject to 
the 50 per cent cap. 

Annual vacancy charge

The Government applies an annual vacancy 
charge on new foreign owners of residential 
property where the property is not occupied 
or genuinely available on the rental market for 
at least six months each year. The charge  is 
equivalent to the relevant foreign investment 
application fee imposed on the property at the 
time it was acquired by the foreign investor. It 
applies to foreign persons who made a foreign 
investment application for residential property 
after 9 May 2017.
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Before commencing business in Australia, every 
form of organisation needs to be aware of the 
following controls:

BUSINESS NAMES

Any organisation may not carry on business under 
a name other than its own name unless that other 
name is registered with ASIC.

AUTHORITIES

A wide variety of activities require registration 
and specific permits. For example, construction 
companies, shops and factories have to register 
with the appropriate state authority.

TYPES OF STRUCTURES

In essence the choice is to run the business 

through one of the following eight alternatives: 

SOLE TRADER

PARTNERSHIP

DISCRETIONARY TRUST

UNIT TRUST

PRIVATE COMPANY

 PUBLIC COMPANY 

JOINT VENTURE, INCORPORATED OR UNINCORPORATED

FOREIGN COMPANY OR SUBSIDIARY

 SOLE TRADER

A sole proprietorship is generally used for small 
scale operations utilising the personal qualities 
of the proprietor.

A person should carry on business as a sole 

trader where:

 » Business is small and there are no 
immediate plans for expansion.

 » Little risk is involved.

 » Minimal capital is required.

 » The owner prefers absolute control of 
business.

 » There are no family members, or family 
members have other income, so income 
splitting is not possible or not tax effective.

ADVANTAGES

 » A sole proprietorship may be formed without 
legal formalities unless a business name 
other than that of the individual concerned 
is to be used. In this case registration is 
required under the Business Names Act 
and is a simple and inexpensive procedure. 
For example, if the person’s name is John 
Smith, he does not have to register if 
he uses “John Smith” or “J Smith” as his 
business name, however if he were to trade 
as “Smith’s Newsagency”, the name would 

Choice of
Business Structure

When considering a business operation in Australia it is essential at the outset to 

identify the best business structure for your use.
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have to be registered. Names which may 
be confused with an existing firm or which 
may be misleading may not be registered.

 » Apart from an individual income tax return, 
there are generally no other reporting or 
disclosure requirements.

 » Losses can be offset against other income 
for income tax purposes.

DISADVANTAGES

 » The owner in such a business is personally 
liable for its debts.

 » It is normally unattractive to foreign 
investors because of the difficulty in raising 
capital and its unlimited legal liability.

 » Business ceases upon death of proprietor.

 » Limits tax planning.

PARTNERSHIP

A partnership arises where two or more 
individuals or corporate entities agree to carry 
on business together.

Ordinarily, partnerships are limited to 20 
members except for certain professional 
partnerships such as public accountants, where 
the maximum number permitted is 1,000, and 
lawyers, where the maximum number permitted 
is 400. Usually partners set out their rights and 
liabilities in a specific partnership agreement 
but in the absence of such an agreement, the 
rights of each partner are regulated by the 
Partnership Acts of each state or territory.

Most states permit the formation of partnerships 
where the liability of some, but not all partners, 
is limited to the amount of capital contributed by 
those partners. The general partners normally 
manage the business and have unlimited 
liability while the limited partners usually must 
be dominant and take none or only a restricted 
part in the management of the business.

As with sole traders, if the business is carried 

out in another name other than that of the 
partners, the name must be registered under 
the Business Names Act. Where all the persons 
carrying on business under the business name 
in a state or territory are resident elsewhere, an 
agent, who is resident in that state or territory, 
must be appointed.

A partnership is appropriate where:

 » The number of persons involved is small.

 » The degree of risk in the venture is such that 
limited liability is not considered necessary.

 » Regulations governing the industry do not 
permit incorporation.

 » Prospective partners are confident in 
each others competence, loyalty and 
compatibility.

ADVANTAGES

 » Reasonably simple to form and change.

 » More capital available than under sole 
proprietor.

 » Partners can contribute wider range of 
business skills.

 » The arrangements need not be committed 
in writing.

 » Degree of control among the partners 
can be agreed upon and management be 
vested in a particular partner or committee 
of partners.

 » Partnership agreement can be flexible and 
tailored to meet specific needs.

 » Partnership agreement may be altered by 
the mutual consent of the partners.

 » Losses can be offset against other income of 
individual partners for income tax purposes.

 » No public disclosure of the financial 
statements of a Partnership is required.

 » There is no requirement that all or any of the 
partners must be Australian residents.
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DISADVANTAGES

 » A partnership is not a separate legal entity 
and the liability of the partners, except in a 
limited partnership, is joint and unlimited. It 
may extend to their private property if there 
are insufficient partnership assets to meet 
obligations.

 » The interest of a partner is not freely 
transferable in that the consent of the other 
partners is necessary before a partnership 
interest can be transferred.

 » There is lack of continuity in that dissolution 
may be necessary on the retirement, 
bankruptcy or death of a partner.

 » The consent of all partners is required to 
admit a new partner.

 » Personality conflicts may arise between 
partners.

DISCRETIONARY TRUST / UNIT TRUST

A trust may be private or public, and the latter 
may be listed on a stock exchange on which the 
beneficiaries’ interests are quoted. A deed regulates 
the operation of a trust and the flexibility of available 
trust structures means that a deed can be drawn 
to suit most applications and requirements. The 
beneficiaries’ entitlements may be fixed or variable 
at the discretion of the trustee according to the 
deed. The discretionary trust is usually used for 
family businesses and gives the trustee wide 
powers to acquire or dispose of property, carry on 
business, borrow money and to distribute income 
and capital among the beneficiaries.

A unit trust structure is normally used in non-family 
business where there are a number of separate 
individuals or companies involved. The beneficial 
ownership of the trust property is divided into 
a number of fixed units which may be further 
separated into income and capital units. The 
beneficiaries’ entitlement to the income of the trust 

is dependent on the number of units he/she holds.

The trustee holds both the assets of the trust and 
runs the business for the benefit of the trust’s 
beneficiaries. He/she/it is personally liable for 
his actions as trustee with a right of indemnity 
against the trust assets provided he acts within the 
scope of his authority. The courts are becoming 
increasingly concerned about this state of affairs 
and beneficiaries have been held personally liable 
for trust debts. Often the directors of the trustee 
company may be asked to sign guarantees.

A trust is appropriate where:

 » A person during a lifetime wishes to settle 
property for the benefit of another person.

 » A person wants to carry on a business and 
wishes to spread income to minimise tax.

 » Ideal for medium to large businesses.

 » A person making a Will wishes to leave 
property in Trust for minors for their 
education and advancement until they 
reach maturity.

ADVANTAGES

 » They are relatively easy to form and not 
subject to government controls on their 
formation or operation (except where a 
company acts as a trustee).

 » Allow flexibility in determining the recipients 
of income distributions.

 » The trustee’s liability may be limited if it is a 
company.

 » The beneficiaries may control the activities 
of the trust if they are also directors of the 
trust company.

DISADVANTAGES

 » Must be strict adherence to the terms of the 
trust deed.

 » If the trustee is a company, there are strict 
financial and legal considerations under 

Choice of Business Structure
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Company Law and also to the company’s 
own Memorandum and Articles of 
Association or Constitution.

 » The courts have developed a complex set 
of rules against assessable income derived 
from other sources.

 » Management disputes may arise with a unit 
trust where it is under the control of more 
than one person.

PRIVATE COMPANY

The Corporations Law (Corporations Act 2001) 
provides for a national system of an individual 
9 digit “Australian Company Number” (ACN) for 
every Australian Company and a nationwide 
data-based computer system. The ACN must 
be displayed on various public documents and 
negotiable instruments as contained in the 
Corporations Law.

Foreign companies trading within Australia are 
allocated an Australian Registered Business 
Number (ABN). The ABN must be displayed 
while trading within Australia.

The Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC) is the regulatory body 
administering the Corporations Law. Its charter 
is to ensure compliance by all companies. The 
main office and information processing centre 
is situated in Morwell, Victoria and business 
offices are situated in all capital cities and some 
other larger cities. Information regarding any 
Australian company may be obtained from all 
ASIC offices.

A company is appropriate where:

 » The number of people in the business is 
such that a partnership is unworkable or 
not allowed by statute.

 » The degree of risk is such that there is a 
need for limited liability.

ADVANTAGES

 » A company has separate legal status which 
means third parties can generally only sue 
the company, not the shareholders.

 » Continuity is preserved and is independent 
of members in that a company will last 
forever unless liquidated by due process 
under the Corporations Act 2001.

 » A company is flexible in that its Constitution 
may be altered.

 » Shareholders usually have limited liability 
although directors nowadays are often 
asked for personal guarantees. The 
Corporations Act 2001 imposes onerous 
responsibilities upon company directors 
and makes them personally liable for debts 
incurred by the company where there is not 
a reasonable expectation that the company 
is able to pay its debts as and when they fall 
due at the time when the debt was incurred.

 » There is greater flexibility in introducing 
new members and in settling the affairs of 
deceased members.

 » Employees can be given an interest in a 
business.

 » Larger amounts of capital can be raised, 
both as debt and equity.

 » Small proprietary companies do not have to 
file annual financial statements or appoint 
auditors.

DISADVANTAGES

The legal fees and registration fees for a 
company are such that most people do not 
incorporate companies until their business 
grows to a reasonable size.

Members have less control and need not be 
part of management structure.

Onerous regulatory responsibilities including 
filings with ASIC. 
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MAIN FORMS OF A COMPANY

The different types of companies which may be 
incorporated under the Corporations Law are 
as follows:

Company limited by shares. The liability of 
its members is limited to the amount unpaid 
on the shares held by them i.e. Limited Liability 
Companies.

Company limited by guarantee. The liability of 
its shareholders is limited by the Memorandum 
to whatever they may respectively undertake 
to contribute to the assets of the company in 
the vent of its being wound up. Usually used for 
non-profit entities such as clubs and hospitals.

An unlimited company is usually formed when 
a company structure is more satisfactory than 
a partnership agreement. No limit is placed on 
the liability of its shareholders.

A no-liability company does not have the 
right to recover calls made on its shares from 
a shareholder who defaults in payment of those 
calls. The use of this type of company is restricted 
to mining; however, it is not necessary for a 
mining company to be a no-liability company. 
A no-liability company must have “No-Liability” 
or the abbreviation “NL” at the end of its name.

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

The most common form used for companies 
is the limited liability company. Overseas 
investors normally use this type of company. A 
limited liability company may be incorporated 
as a proprietary (private) or public company.

PROPRIETARY COMPANY

A proprietary company is a company having 
share capital, with a limit of no more than 
fifty (50 non-employees) shareholders, and is 
prohibited from inviting the public to subscribe 

for shares in, or debentures of the company, and 
from inviting the public to deposit money with 
the company. It must use the word “Proprietary” 
or the abbreviation “Pty”, as well as “Limited” or 
“Ltd” as part of its name.

Proprietary companies may be classified as 
either “large’” or “small”. This classification 
determines the level of reporting required by 
such companies.

Large companies are those that satisfy two 

of three criteria per Section 45A Corporations 

Legislation:

 » Consolidated Revenue > $50m p.a.

 » Consolidated Gross Assets > $25m p.a.

 » Employees > 100.

These companies are required to lodge accounts 
with the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC) within four months of 
the end of the financial year. Generally such 
accounts must be audited.

Small proprietary companies are not required 
to produce financial statements unless 5% of 
the shareholders require them to be produced 
or there is a request from ASIC.

Companies which are foreign owned or 
controlled, whether large or small, are required 
to lodge annual accounts and reports with ASIC.

Companies that disclose information overseas 
must also disclose that information in Australia 
on the next business day after it is disclosed 
overseas.

It should be noted that companies can move 
between the large and small classification on 
an annual basis if circumstances result in the 
above-mentioned criteria being met.

Choice of Business Structure
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PUBLIC COMPANIES

A public company is any company other than a 
proprietary company and is in essence one in 
which the public owns or may own shares. They 
have certain controls placed on them by the 
Australian Stock Exchange.

On April 1, 1987, the Stock Exchanges of Adelaide, 
Brisbane, Sydney, Melbourne, Hobart and Perth 
were incorporated federally under the Australian 
Stock Exchange and National Guarantee Fund Act 
1987 into the Australian Stock Exchange Limited. 

Whilst each state continues to maintain its own 
second board listing rules, all companies seeking 
listing on the main board are governed by the ASX 
main board listing rules.

The listing rules are additional and complementary 
to the requirements in the Corporations Law. They 
deal with the pre-requisites for admission to, and 
official quotation of marketable securities on the 
Official List of the ASX, reporting requirements 
of companies and regulate such things as the 
acquisition and disposal of securities and corporate 
assets, reconstructions, prospectuses and new 
marketable securities issues.

JOINT VENTURE

A joint venture differs from a partnership in that 
the parties do not carry on business in common, 
but rather pool their business capabilities and 
resources in order to earn income. For example, 
one party may provide the capital, another act as 
a buying agent and a third do the selling. Profits 
are usually divided in agreed proportions.

The parties may be individuals, companies or 
other entities and enter into a joint venture to 
carry out a specific business enterprise with 
a limited objective, and with the relationship 
being terminated on completion of the project. 
They usually have a detailed agreement 
prepared specifying their respective rights and 
obligations.

A company or partnership structure may be 
used as a vehicle for a joint venture. If a company 
is used it is necessary for the shareholders to 
enter into agreements between themselves 
to document arrangements that are special to 
the venture and cannot be handled inside the 
company structure. Where the joint venture is 
in the form of a partnership, the partnership 
agreement or state or territory partnership laws 
would govern the venture.

ADVANTAGES

 » Need not be incorporated as an entity 
separate from that of the co-venturers. 
They are therefore not regulated by specific 
statutes as are companies and partnerships.

 » An un-incorporated joint venture in many 
cases may be formed and managed such 
that each venturer’s liability is limited to its 
agreed share of the venture.

 » A joint venture, not using a company or 
partnership, is not required to lodge a 
separate income tax return.

DISADVANTAGE

 » In cases where a company or partnership 
is used for a joint venture, the financial, 
accounting and legal considerations are 
the same as for any other company or 
partnership.

It is important when structuring a joint venture 
to ensure that the documentation is drafted 
in such a manner as to ensure that it is not a 
partnership. You should consult Hall Chadwick 
for further details.

FOREIGN COMPANY OR SUBSIDIARY

A foreign company branch carrying on a business 
in Australia is subject to Australian legislation. A 
branch office does not have limited liability and is 
not recognised as having a separate legal identity 
in the country.
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Choice of Business Structure

Registration for a branch office is more complex and time consuming than for a subsidiary company with 
the company required to disclose both corporate information and supporting documentation to ASIC. The 
registration of a branch office can take up to 45 days. Using an experienced provider can generally expedite 
the process.

Branch offices of foreign businesses are issued with an ARBN (Australian Registered Business Number). This 
must be displayed on all business documents.

ADVANTAGE

 » One structure for the global operation.

DISADVANTAGE

 » As a branch is not a separate legal entity, the whole assets of the parent are exposed when the 
branch is no longer able to meet its debts when they fall due.     

From a taxation point of view where a subsidiary is chosen, certain establishment expenses will not 
be deductible from a company’s assessable income and other establishment expenses will not be of 
use until the subsidiary is earning sufficient assessable income.

Also, the use of a foreign company operating through a branch could result in a financial institution 
choosing not to provide finance where no audited financial statements have been prepared by the 
branch. In some industries, customers require a local  subsidiary rather than a branch. 

 

COMPARING OBLIGATIONS BRANCH V SUBSIDIARY

*The rate of tax applicable to companies is 30% with 27.5% applicable to companies that are 
considered active small business entities with turnover of $50M from 1 July 2018, reducing to 26% 
from 1 July 2020 and 25% from 1 July 2021.

OBLIGATIONS FOREIGN COMPANY (BRANCH) SUBSIDIARY

Tax Rate 30% 30%

Tax Return YES YES

Financial Supplements YES YES

ASIC Registration YES YES

Separate Legal Entity NO YES
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FORMATION

In order to form a limited liability company, 
an application form must be lodged with 
the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC). Directors and Secretaries 
are appointed automatically on registration of 
the company, provided their details are specified 
in the application with their consent. Once the 
company is registered shares can be issued.

The company may adopt a Constitution on 
registration, or if it decides not to, it shall be 
governed by ‘replaceable rules’ which are 
contained in the Corporations Act 2001 (as 
amended). As a general rule, it is recommended 
that a constitution be drafted in light of the 
specific circumstances that apply to the 
company.

Public companies are required, on registration, 
to lodge with ASIC their Constitution where one 
has been adopted. There is no such requirement 
for proprietary companies.

A local company with your choice of name and 
details of directors, shareholders, etc, can be set 
up for around $1,000 and will take approximately 
2-3 days from order to delivery.

Any changes in the details as lodged with ASIC 
on formation of the company must be reported 
within 14 days. In addition, all companies must 
file an annual return and all public companies 
and most large proprietary companies must file 
a copy of their audited financial statements with 
ASIC each year. Any member of the public may 
gain access to this information on payment of 
the appropriate fee.

Public companies are required to open their 
registered office to the public. Proprietary 
companies are not so required but must, 
on request, allow the inspection of relevant 
documents and registers.

Replaceable rules do not apply to single 

member companies with a sole director. 
There are specific general provisions in the 
Corporations Law which govern the conduct of 
business and the appointment of directors to 
such companies.

INTERNATIONAL COMPANIES ESTABLISHING IN AUSTRALIA

Usually companies wishing to operate in 
Australia will need to decide whether they wish 
to operate a subsidiary company, or a simple 
Branch Office.

A subsidiary is usually a separate private 
company, as detailed above. Operating a branch 
office requires registration with ASIC and the 
Australian Taxation Office. Both entities have 
the same rate of tax.

The ASIC compliance requirements of a Branch 
Office are more rigorous than for a subsidiary. A 
Branch office exposes the Head Office to further 
liability for all of the Branch Offices actions.

In all cases there are vigorous proof of identity 
requirements for the foreign entity and 
directions which must be complied with.

A Local Director (or agent for Branch Office) is 
required.

Hall Chadwick Sydney has vast experience in 

establishing foreign entities in Australia, and at 

the same time we also attend to:

 » Substituted Accounting Periods (the 
standard Australian Year End is 30 June)

 » Audit Exemptions (where applicable)

 » Australian Business Number registration

 » Tax File Number

 » All employer registrations

 » Liaising with government agencies to 
assure the complex registration process is 
as smooth as possible.
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DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors usually manages 
the company. Its powers and duties are set 
out in the Corporations Act 2001 and in any 
Constitution the Company may have prepared. 
Only natural persons may be appointed as 
directors. A private company must have at least 
one director. At least one director must reside 
in Australia. A public company must have at 
least three directors with two being residents 
of Australia.

The procedure for appointment of the directors 
is set out in the Corporations Act 2001, unless 
a Constitution has been adopted which 
would then take precedence. There is usually 
a provision for a proportion of the directors 
to retire by rotation at each annual general 
meeting. A retiring director would normally be 
eligible for reappointment. There are restrictions 
on people over the age of 72 acting as directors 
of a public company.

The power to remove directors of a private 
company is also set out in the Corporations Act 
2001, unless a Constitution has been adopted, 
but shareholders of a public company may 
remove a director before the expiration of 
his period of office, by a resolution in general 
meeting.

Directors must act honestly and with reasonable 
diligence. They may be held personally liable 
for their actions where they have failed to keep 
proper accounts, contracted unpayable debts 
or carried on business to defraud creditors prior 
to the company becoming insolvent. The Act 
itself does not require a director to hold shares 
in a company, but an individual company’s 
Constitution may require that they do.

Employees have no statutory right to appoint 
directors or to participate in corporate 
management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

A public company must have at least one 
secretary. The secretary must be a natural 
person, must be at least 18 years old and, if 
there is more than one director, at least one 
of them must ordinarily reside in Australia. 
Private companies do not necessarily require a 
secretary but if that position exists, the secretary 
must be an Australian resident.

PUBLIC OFFICER

Every company carrying on business in 
Australia or deriving Australian income from 
property must have a public officer for the 
purposes of the Income Tax Assessment Act. 
The Pay-roll Tax Acts and Land Tax Acts may 
also be relevant to his appointment. Such an 
officer must be a natural person, 18 years old 
and be ordinarily resident in Australia.

The Public Officer, similar to a Director, may 
be held personally liable for ATO debts of the 
company in certain circumstances.

SHAREHOLDERS

Under the Corporations Act 2001, a company 
must have at least one member. An Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) must be held at least 
once in every calendar year and within five 
months of the end of the financial year for 
public companies. Proprietary companies are 
not required to hold an AGM. Other general 
meetings are held as circumstances require.

CAPITAL

No minimum share capital is prescribed for a 
proprietary or public company except where 
it is to be listed on the stock exchange. The 
types and classes of shares and the rights of 
their holders may be specified in a Company’s 
Constitution.

Choice of Business Structure
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REGISTERS

All companies must keep registers of members 
and where applicable, registers of charges (for 
example, mortgages), debentures and options. 
These may be kept in an electronic form.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Public companies are required to hold an AGM 
of members each calendar year. The holding of 
an AGM is optional for proprietary companies 
and they are not required to pass a resolution.

ANNUAL REVIEW

Public companies are required to lodge an 
annual review with the ASIC within one month 
of their AGM. In respect of private companies, 
annual reviews must be lodged by January 31, 
of the subsequent financial year. 

TRADEMARKS

While having the right structure for your 
business is imperative from both an asset 
protection and an income tax point of view, 
we strongly recommend the protection of your 
brand assets and trademarks.

These registrations have greater effect in law 
than registered names and Hall Chadwick 
Sydney can refer you to the appropriate legal 
advisors for your trademark protection. 
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The Australian taxation issues that arise in 
the context of doing business in Australia are 
created under the jurisdictions of both Federal 
and State/Territory laws. The key taxes which 
are levied by each level of government are 
outlined in the tables as set out in Appendix 
A. All of these taxes create their own potential 
issues in doing business in Australia.

INCOME TAX

Income tax has been levied at the Federal 
Government level in Australia for over seventy 
years. The Federal Government places 
substantial reliance on income tax as a revenue 
raising measure.

Essentially, income tax is a tax levied on 
companies, individuals and certain trusts, 
on the difference between the relevant 
entity’s assessable income and the allowable 
deductions, for a particular tax year ending 
on 30 June. This net amount is called “taxable 
income”.

The rates of tax applicable to the taxable income 
of individuals is set out in Appendix A. The rate 
of tax applicable to companies is 26% from 1 
July 2020 and 25% from 1 July 2021 applicable 
to copanies with turnover <$50M, otherwise it 
is 30%. 

TAX YEAR

The income tax year, by reference to which 
assessable income and allowable deductions 
are determined, is normally the year from 1 July 
to the following 30 June.

In the case of companies and trusts a 
substituted tax year can be allowed in certain 
circumstances and by following certain 
administrative procedures. One of the main 
examples where a substituted accounting 
period can be obtained is in relation to 
companies which are subsidiaries of offshore 
entities which have different tax years to the 
Australian 30 June financial year end. In that 
instance it is possible to seek, and obtain 
permission, to use a different tax year.

SPECIAL RULES FOR NON-RESIDENTS

Interest, certain types of dividends and royalties 
received by non-residents from Australian 
entities are subject to withholding tax, which in 
essence is a special form of income tax.

The interest withholding tax rate is 10% of the 
gross interest paid (i.e. without allowing for any 
deductions that might otherwise be applicable).

The royalty withholding tax rate is normally 
30% of the gross royalty paid, however, where 

With appropriate advice and careful 
planning the taxation issues can be 
made manageable, and in certain 

circumstances your tax can be 
minimised in a legitimate manner. 
Where appropriate these planning 

techniques are outlined in this 
document. When necessary further 

development of these techniques can be 
discussed by contacting Hall Chadwick.

Tax
Considerations
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there is a Double Tax Agreement (DTA) between 
Australia and the country of residence of the 
entity concerned, the rate of withholding tax 
is usually reduced to 15% (although in recent 
DTAs the rate has been as low as 5% or 0%).

In the case of dividends, where they are paid out 
of a pool of profits that has not been subjected 
to Australian income tax, these dividends will be 
called unfranked dividends and are subject  to 
the normal withholding tax rate of 30% of the 
gross dividend paid. However, if there is a DTA 
between Australia and the country of residence 
of the entity concerned, the rate of withholding 
tax is normally reduced to 15% (although in 
recent DTAs the rate has been as low as 5% or 
0%).

In relation to dividends paid out of a pool of 
profits that is subject to Australian income 
tax, there should be no further Australian 
withholding tax on those dividends.

Source of income is not generally defined in the 
Tax Act though there are specific rules for certain 
types of income. Where there is no statutory 
source rule, source is determined according to 
principles developed by the Courts.

Statutory source rules apply to outgoing 
royalties, interest payments on loans secured 
by mortgage of any property in Australia, and 
certain types of business income. 

Non-residents sale of residential property

When a foreign investor sells Australian 
residential property after 1 July 2017, the 
purchaser will be required to pay 12.5% of 
the purchase price to the ATO at or before 
settlement if the market value of the property is 
more than $750,000. 

Non-residents who have derived a capital 
gain on their Australian residential property 
that is not their main residence will be subject 
to capital gains tax (CGT) if the property was 
acquired after 19 September 1985. 

The 50% CGT discount was previously available 

to any individual who has a taxable capital 
gain on disposal of an asset held for more than 
12 months, regardless of their tax residency 
status. However, the 50% CGT discount is no 
longer available to non-residents for residential 
properties acquired after 8 May 2012. 

On 9 May 2017, the Australian Government 
announced that non-residents would no 
longer be exempt from CGT when selling their 
main residence. This rule was made subject to 
grandfathering for existing properties held on 
this date and disposed of on or prior to 30 June 
2020. 

Non-statutory source rules, developed by case 

law, relate to income from the following sources, 

as indicated:

 » Personal services: the place where the 
services are performed; business income 
& the place of contracting, the place of 
performance and the place of payment are 
all relevant;

 » Sales income: no one factor appears to 
be relevant unless real estate is involved 
in which case the place where the land is 
situated is determinative;

 » Dividend income: the place where the 
fund of profits enabling the payment of the 
dividend arises is determinative; and

 » Interest: the place where the contract for 
the loan was made and the place where the 
money was lent are significant.

To determine the source of income, a weighing 
of various factors is taken into account to 
establish where the critical elements for the 
production of income occurred. You should refer 
to Hall Chadwick for clarification.
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RESIDENTS

Residents of Australia are generally taxed on 
their worldwide income.

The position in relation to trusts is more 
complex—in essence any accumulated income 
is taxed either in the trustee’s hands at the rate 
of 47%; distributed income, or income to which 
a beneficiary is “presently entitled” at year end, 
is taxed to the beneficiary at the marginal tax 
rate applicable to that beneficiary and is not 
taxed in the hands of the trustee.

In relation to superannuation funds, the normal 
rate of income tax is 15% if the superannuation 
fund is a complying superannuation fund. If the 
fund is a non-complying fund its earnings are 
taxed at the rate of 47%.

The position in relation to partnerships in 
Australia is, with one qualification, that all 
the assessable income and deductions of 
a partnership are treated as the assessable 
income and deductions of the partners in the 
partnership and taxed in the partner’s hands. 

In other words, the partnership, in essence, is 
treated as a look-through entity for tax purposes.

The one qualification applies in relation to 
limited partnerships, which are effectively 
taxed as companies.

Once the tax payable is calculated by applying 
the rate of tax to the taxable income, there are 
further possible tax offsets which are designed 
to reduce the amount of tax payable.

Examples of such tax offsets available to 

individuals include:

 » Small business income tax offset

 »  Low Income Taxpayers Rebate

 »  Dependant Rebate

 »  Pensioners Rebate

 »  Overseas Forces Rebate

 »  Franking Rebate (in relation to the receipt of 
franked dividends).

TAX ON CAPITAL GAINS (CGT)

Interestingly, in the context of Australian 
taxation, the name Capital Gains Tax (CGT) 
is a complete misnomer. What is not readily 
understood is that Australia does not formally 
impose a separate capital gains tax. Rather, 
under the Federal income tax laws (which 
have been described above), capital gains are 
treated as assessable income and subject to tax 
as such, with certain qualifications.

A key qualification that has been in place 
since 20 September 1999 is that, in the case of 
individuals or trusts, only 50% of any capital gain 
is included in assessable income provided the 
asset has been held for at least 12 months. This 
discount, however, does not apply in relation to 
gains derived by companies.

In relation to all other income derived by 
non-residents, only Australian sourced 
income is subject to tax in Australia. 

If a non-resident derives business profits 
from activities conducted in Australia, 
but which activities did not give rise 
to an Australian source under ordinary 
source principles, the income from that 
business activity is not subject to tax in 
Australia. Again, this conclusion could 
be altered if there is a DTA in place. 

Even where income is Australian 
sourced, Australia may be limited in its 
ability to tax such income if prohibited 
from doing so under a DTA. 

Tax Considerations
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 »  A CGT asset elected by an individual to 
continue to be subject to the Australian 
CGT rules after ceasing to be an Australian 
resident.

The purpose of limiting Australian CGT to these 
particular assets in respect of non−resident 
investors is to encourage offshore investment 
into Australia (into non−TAP assets such as 
shares). Significantly, where a taxpayer who is 
a non-resident makes a disposal of an asset 
which is not a TAP, that disposal is not subject 
to CGT.

Where an exemption from Australian CGT is 
available, non-residents still need to consider 
if the gain is taxable as income. This is most 
commonly the case where the asset was 
acquired for the purpose of making a gain on 
sale.

There are also other concessions, particularly 
in relation to small business. Where these 
concessions apply, substantial capital gains 
can be obtained tax-free. Further information on 
these is available from Hall Chadwick.

SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR NON-RESIDENTS

The only type of assets on which non−residents 
will be subject to Australian CGT will be taxable 
Australian property (TAP). TAP is exhaustively 
defined as the following:

 »  Taxable Australian real property, being real 
property situated in Australia (including 
mining, quarrying and prospecting rights to 
the extent that the underlying materials are 
situated in Australia)

 » Indirect real property interests

 »  Business assets used at any time in an 
Australian branch

 »  An option to acquire any of the above 
mentioned assets
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CONDUIT FOREIGN INCOME (CFI)

CFI rules have made Australia very attractive 
from an investment point of view as a regional 
headquarters for countries situated in the Asia 
Pacific region.

EXEMPTIONS FROM WITHHOLDING TAX

Conduit foreign income can be distributed from 
an Australian corporate tax entity (“CTE”) to a 
non-resident in the form of unfranked dividends 
without attracting any Australian tax.

Conduit foreign income is basically foreign 
income that is not assessable in Australia when 
derived by an Australian CTE. It includes non-
portfolio dividends, foreign branch income, 
tax-exempt gains from the sale of a foreign 
company with an underlying active business, 
foreign income to which a foreign tax credit has 
been claimed, and off-shore banking income.

For CFI purposes, an Australian CTE is:

 » An Australian resident company

 » An Australian resident corporate limited 
partnership

 » A corporate unit trust that is a resident unit 
trust

 » A public trading trust that is a resident unit 
trust.

Accordingly, where a Foreign Company is held 
through an interposed Australian company the 
CFI would become relevant for dividends paid 
to a non-resident of Australia. The outcome is 
that Foreign Company income would be foreign 
income on which foreign tax has been paid 
and therefore the actual dividend payments 
to non-residents would not suffer additional 
withholding tax.

GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

Broadly, Australian GST of 10% is required to be 
imposed by the supplier (and remitted to the 
ATO) where the supply is considered a taxable 
supply. Entities have to register once turnover 
reaches $75,000 ($150,000 for non-profit 
entities).

From 1 July 2017, non-resident suppliers and 
platform operators (so-called “Netflix tax”) 
which make supplies that are connected with 
the Indirect Tax Zone, and which have a value in 
excess of the turnover threshold of $75,000, will 
also be required to register for GST purposes. 

Supplies of less than $1,000 with overseas 
businesses making sales of goods to Australian 
consumers are also now subject to GST. 

SPECIAL RULES FOR NON-RESIDENTS

One of the requirements for there to be a 
taxable supply is that the supply must have a 
connection with Australia.

The supply of goods is connected with Australia 
if either:

 » the goods are delivered or made available 
in Australia

 »  the goods are removed from Australia

 » the goods are imported into or brought 
from overseas and installed or assembled 
in Australia.

The supply of real property is connected with 
Australia if the real property or the land to which 
the real property relates is in Australia.

All supplies of things other than goods and 
real property are evaluated by the same test 
to determine whether or not that supply is 
connected with Australia in the relevant sense.

A supply of anything other than goods and real 
property is connected with Australia if it is done 

Tax Considerations
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in Australia, or if the supplier makes the supply 
through an enterprise that the supplier carries 
on in Australia.

Non-taxable supplies are not subject to GST. 
Included in non-taxable supplies are GST-free 
supplies that cover a range of items, most 
notably basic food, healthcare, education and 
exported goods and services.

A sale of a business which meets all the 
conditions of transfer of a going concern will 
also not be subject to GST.

goods are imported into Australia, where they 
would not be GST-free or input taxed supplies 
if they were supplied locally, the GST liability is 
imposed on the importer for an amount equal to 
10% of the value of the taxable import. The value 
of the taxable import includes the customs value, 
associated costs of transport and insurance 
and any customs duty payable in respect of 
the import of the goods. If used entirely in the 
conduct of a business the importer would also 
be entitled to an input tax credit equal to the 
GST liability.

Essentially, a GST liability, in relation to the 
import of goods, arises only if the goods are used 
wholly or partly for essentially private purposes.  
Finally, it should also be noted that exports are 
GST-free. However, to satisfy the requirements 
of the definition of being an export for this 
purpose, there are strict technical rules that 
must be complied with. Further information on 
this issue can be obtained from Hall Chadwick.

FRINGE BENEFITS TAX (FBT)

FBT imposes tax upon employers in relation to 
all non-cash components of benefits provided 
to employees.

FBT covers a wide range of benefits listed 
Appendix A. Each category has its own 
designated valuation rules which mean that 
some categories are inevitably dealt with more 
favourably than others. For example, it is still 
possible in the Australian context to extract 
an advantage from salary packaging a motor 
vehicle, since the valuation rules for motor 
vehicles are slightly more generous than those 
applicable to other categories. However, it must 
be conceded that the relative advantage here 
has been diminished in recent years.

There are still some minor items exempt from 

FBT that can be salary packaged to good effect. 

These include in particular:

Also, included in non-taxable supplies are input 
taxed supplies. The most significant category of 
input taxed supplies is financial supplies.

There are differences between a GST-free 
supply and an input taxed supply. Where the 
supplier makes a GST free supply, any GST 
that it has paid in relation to acquisitions that 
relate to GST free supplies may be claimed as 
input tax credits. These input tax credits can be 
refunded to the taxpayer. By contrast, in relation 
to input taxed supplies, where the supplier 
makes such a supply and there is an associated 
GST expense in relation to acquisitions made 
that relate to those supplies, normally no input 
tax credit can be obtained.

Imports are treated separately. In essence, 
imports become taxable as taxable imports 
for GST purposes only where they relate to 
the import of goods. Thus, in broad terms if 

GST is imposed on all taxable supplies 
made at the rate of 10%. It is calculated 
on the value of the taxable supply which 
is 10/11ths of the GST inclusive price 
received by the supplier as consideration 
for the supply. Generally, registered 
entities can claim an input tax credit for 
GST paid on supplies; therefore, it is the 
end user who effectively bears the tax.
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 » Laptops  (but  limited  to  one  per  year  
per employee);

 »  Payments made to complying 
superannuation funds;

 »  Car parking provided by small businesses 
on their premises

 »  Mobile phones

 » Certain childcare fringe benefits.

MEDICARE LEVY

The Medicare levy applies only to resident 
individuals. It has no application to non-
residents or to companies.

The current Medicare levy is imposed at a 
flat rate of 2% on the taxpayer’s entire taxable 
income unless taxable income is less than 
certain concessionary amounts in which case 
lower rates may apply.

The Medicare levy can best be 
described as an extra charge or levy 

for medical care imposed by reference 
to the taxable income of a taxpayer in 
addition to the tax otherwise payable 

by the taxpayer.

Tax Considerations

An additional Medicare levy surcharge of up 
to 1.5% of taxable income can apply to high-
income earners in certain situations.
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HIGHER EDUCATION CONTRIBUTIONS SCHEME CHARGE 

(HECS) & HIGHER EDUCATION LOAN PROGRAM (HELP)

Higher education at Universities other 
approved private higher education providers 
may be subsidised by the government and a 
student is only required to make a contribution, 
called Higher Education Contributions Scheme 
Charge (HECS).

The liability for HECS may be deferred and 
borrowed in the form of a relatively interest free 
loan from the government known as the Higher 
Education Loan Program (HELP). Once the 
individual commences fulltime employment and 
exceeds a certain level of income, repayment of 
the HELP loan is collected via the tax system. 

Where a student pays HECS upfront (and do 
not access HELP) and there is a discount on the 
course fees. HECS and HELP are available only 
to residents of Australia.

Five HELP schemes are available:

 » HECS-HELP – for eligible students enrolled 
in Commonwealth supported places. A 
HECSHELP loan will cover all or part of 
their student contribution.

 »  FEE-HELP –  for  eligible  fee-paying  
students enrolled at an eligible higher 
education provider or Open Universities 
Australia. FEEHELP provides students with 
a loan to cover up to the full amount of 
their tuition fees to a certain maximum. 

 »  VET – FEE- HELP for eligible students 
studying higher level vocational education 
and training (VET) qualifications to pay 
their tuition fees.

 »  OS-HELP – for eligible Commonwealth 
supported students who wish to study 
overseas. OSHELP provides students with 
a cash loan to cover expenses such as 
accommodation and travel.
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 »  SA-HELP – for eligible students to pay for 
all or part of their student services and 
amenities fee.

SUPERANNUATION GUARANTEE CHARGE (SGC) 

The superannuation guarantee legislation is 
designed to encourage employers  to  provide 
a minimum level of superannuation support for 
employees. The current minimum prescribed 
rate is 9.5% until 30 June 2021 and increase by 
0.5% each year until it reaches 12%.

Where employers provide less than the required 
minimum level of support, they are liable 
to pay a non-deductible charge called the 
Superannuation Guarantee Charge (SGC).

The  SGC  equals  the  superannuation  

guarantee shortfall, which is made up of:

 » The total of the individual superannuation 
guarantee shortfalls for all employees for 
the year

 »  An interest component

 »  The employer’s administration component 
for the year.

PAYROLL TAX

Payroll Tax is levied by each of the six Australian 
States and two Territories regarding assessable 
wages paid or payable in respect of services 
performed wholly or mainly within a particular 
jurisdiction. In every case, there is a threshold 
below which Payroll Tax is not payable.

In NSW the threshold is $1,200,000 and 
Queensland is $1,300,000.  Other States and 
Territories have similar thresholds. Beyond that 
threshold amount, a flat rate is charged. The 
flat rate in New South Wales is currently 4.85%, 
Victoria 4.85% and Queensland 4.75%.

The residence of the employer is not normally 
relevant to Payroll Tax - the critical issue is 
where the service is performed.

If services are performed within one of the 
relevant jurisdictions, payroll tax will apply 
subject to the threshold tests in the state where 
the services are   performed. If services are 
performed by an employee in more than one 
jurisdiction in a particular month, then the 
wages are subject to payroll tax in the state in 
which the employee has his principal place of 
residence in Australia. 

The only instance in which the employer’s 
residence is applicable in determining liability 
for payroll tax is where services are performed 
in more than one state during a month and the 
employee does not have a principal place of 
residence in Australia, or where it cannot be 
identified, in which case the employer’s ABN 
registered address will be used to determine 
where payroll tax is liable to be paid. Certain 
planning opportunities exist and you should 
contact Hall Chadwick for further details.

LAND TAX

Land tax applies equally to residents and non- 
residents who own land in the particular State 
or Territory jurisdiction in question.

Land tax is a State or Territory tax that is 
currently imposed by all six states of Australia 
and by the Australian Capital Territory. It is not 
imposed by the Northern Territory. In each case 
it is imposed on the value of the land, only the 
methods for determining value in this context 
vary from state to state.

With the exception of the ACT, liability for land 
tax rests with the owner on a particular date or 
at a particular point in time. In the ACT, where 
all land is owned by the Commonwealth, land 
tax is imposed on lessees.

In NSW and Victoria the relevant moment to 
judge the ownership of the asset is midnight on 
31 December in any given year. The dates for all 
other states but not the ACT are midnight on 30 
June in any given year.

Tax Considerations
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Rather, the essential connecting factors that 
give rise to a liability to Stamp Duty in any State 
or Territory include:

 » Whether  a  document  is executed  within  
the jurisdiction

 » Whether  the  transaction  relates  to  
property located within the jurisdiction

 » Whether the transaction relates to “any 
matters or things done or to be done” 
within the jurisdiction.

Residents conducting business operations 
in Australia are subject to tax in a State or 
Territory if, for example, the transaction relates 
to property located within the particular State 
or Territory.

FOREIGN PURCHASER SURCHARGE

New South Wales

An 8% surcharge purchase duty applies where 
a foreign person acquires NSW residential land.

Victoria

The foreign investor surcharge on residential 
stamp duty is 8%.

Queensland

A 7% additional Foreign Acquirer Duty applies 
where a foreign person acquires residential 
property.

In all States, the surcharge is imposed on a 
foreign person, which generally includes a 
foreign natural person, corporation or trustee 
of a foreign trust. However, exactly who is 
included in this definition varies in each State. 

In the six States and in the ACT the owner’s 
principal place of residence is generally exempt, 
although there are certain differing qualifying 
criteria which vary between jurisdictions.

In all States there is a threshold below which 
there is no land tax and above which the 
imposition of land tax can be quite significant. 

Each State imposes its own land tax and 
accordingly it is imposed in relation to land 
owned by the taxpayer in that State. The 
Northern Territory does not levy land tax.

LAND TAX SURCHARGE

Various States have introduced a land tax 
surcharge for foreign persons who own 
residential land. 

For example, in NSW a 2% surcharge land 
tax applies, in additional to the base land tax 
amount. 

Foreign persons include individuals, companies 
and trusts (amongst others), but there is an 
exclusion for individuals who do not reside in 
Australia, but are Australian citizens. 

STAMP DUTY

The rate of Stamp Duty varies from State to State 
and in respect of different types of documents 
relating to different types of transactions.

Most commonly, Stamp Duty is applied in 
respect of conveyances of real property and 
the total amount of Stamp Duty payable on this 
basis can be substantial.

For example, in New South Wales, where 
a property is transferred for an amount of 
$1,000,000, the referable Stamp Duty payable 
is AUD $40,432. Similar amounts are usually 
payable in other States.

The residence of transacting parties is not the 
critical feature which gives rise to Stamp Duty.  
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advisable that for tax purposes that at least the 
majority of the directors of the company are not 
Australian residents and practical day to day 
management of the company should, where 
possible, be outside Australia.

The third test is again more clear cut and simply 
requires that those who control the voting power 
of the company be resident outside Australia.

 DOUBLE  TAXATION AGREEMENTS

Australia has entered into over forty 
comprehensive Double Taxation Agreements 
(DTAs) with countries such as the UK, the USA, 
France, Germany, Japan, New Zealand and 
China (PRC).

 INCOME TAX

Clearly, the broadest impact is in relation to 
income tax where the treaties operate to achieve 
a number of results, particularly as follows:

 » Business profits are not taxed in Australia if 
they are  derived   by   a   taxpayer   who is 
resident in a DTA country in circumstances 
where that DTA resident does not have a 
permanent establishment in Australia

 » Interest,  royalty  and   dividend   income 
which flows from Australia to a person 
resident in a DTA country is taxed at reduced 
withholding tax rates

 » Certain personal services  income,  which 
is ordinarily subject to tax in Australia, may 
be excluded from Australian tax by the DTA.

RESIDENCE

There is a critical distinction between an 
Australian resident and non-resident. The 
distinction is crucial as a resident is taxed on 
worldwide income whereas a non-resident is 
taxed only on Australian sourced income.

Residency for tax purposes is not necessarily 
the same as immigration purposes.

In particular, in the context of companies, to 

achieve and maintain non-resident status the 

relevant company should ensure that three 

things occur:

 » It is incorporated outside Australia;

 » Its central management and control is 
outside Australia; and

 » Its power is controlled by non-Australian 
resident shareholders.

The first test is essentially a factual matter which 
can be satisfied with ease.

The second test is more complex. There is an 
authority to suggest that the place where the 
directors of the company meet to conduct the 
business of the company is the sole determinant 
of the place of central management and control. 
However, the authority  for this proposition is old 
and may no longer reflect the complete picture. 
It is advisable to ensure that directors  meetings 
occur outside Australia and that these meetings 
determine both policy and key operational 
matters relating to the company. Further, it is 

Cross Border
Tax Considerations
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with one another in relation to either goods 
and/or services (including for example making 
a loan to each other), the Australian Taxation 
Authorities are keen to ensure that this is done 
on such a basis so as not to deliberately or 
inadvertently reduce Australian tax that would 
be payable if the parties were not so related.

The bottom line, in relation to the complex 
issues raised by the concept of transfer pricing, 
is that parties who are not operating at arm’s 
length when dealing with each other, should 
ensure that they have properly thought through 
and documented the reasoning to determine 
the price charged between themselves.

In particular, they should clearly document 
the process by which they have reached the 
related party price and that documentation 
should include reference to all functions, assets 
and risks which have been assumed by the 
respective parties in determining the arm’s 
length pricing amounts. The documents should 
reveal both the pricing and methodology 
adopted.

In that way, upon any subsequent transfer-
pricing audit, the parties would have clear, 
tangible and contemporaneous documentation 
to present in defence of the pricing that has 
been arrived at.

For transactions which have taken place in the 

past, it would be advisable to:

 » Review the pricing policies; If none exist, 
develop documentation having regard 
to the relevant transfer pricing principles 
mentioned above and in the various 
administrative rulings;

 » Where discrepancies are found, or 
inadequate documentation or inappropriate 
pricing is discovered, consider requesting 
an amended assessment to avoid penalties 
that can arise under audit.

FRINGE BENEFITS TAX

There is some debate as to whether DTAs can 
have any effect upon Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT). 
The only point that is absolutely clear on this 
issue is that the DTA entered into with the 
United Kingdom and New Zealand specifically 
deals with FBT and confers taxing rights upon 
that country which has the primary right to tax 
the remuneration to which the fringe benefit 
relates.

In respect of all other DTAs that do not make 
specific reference to FBT, the position is unclear 
but the preferred view is that they have no 
application to FBT.

CAPITAL GAIN TAX 

Even more complex issues arise in relation to 
whether or not the DTAs can apply so as to limit 
the taxing capacity of treaty partners in relation 
to Capital Gains Tax (CGT). For DTAs entered 
into before Australia’s CGT commenced to 
operate (i.e. before 20 September 1985) CGT is 
considered to be a tax that is substantially similar 
to income tax,  especially  as  it  is   structured   
as   part   of the income tax law (refer to 5.3 
above) and therefore Australia’s capacity to tax 
the capital gains  is  limited  as  set  out  under  
the DTA. 

In relation to the other DTAs, there is a provision 
which seeks to preserve Australia’s taxing rights 
in relation to capital gains thereby excluding the 
benefit of the DTA.

A note of caution - the DTAs are similar in 
structure but different in a number of points 
of detail. You should not assume that one 
DTA is identical to another. Each needs to be 
independently considered.

TRANSFER PRICING

When related parties, such as a non-resident 
parent and an Australian subsidiary, transact 
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For future/proposed transactions, in addition 
to the processes referred to above, one should 
consider approaching both the Australian and 
Foreign Revenue Authorities for an “Advanced 
Pricing Agreement (APA)”. This is an agreement 
between the Australian Taxation Office, the 
relevant Foreign Tax Office and the relevant 
taxpayers under which for a given period of 
time the pricing methodology is agreed to by 
all parties. The Advanced Pricing Agreement is 
both time consuming and potentially costly in 
terms of legal and accounting fees, but in the 
long term cost savings and certainty can be 
achieved. 

Tax returns for companies, trusts, partnerships 
and superannuation funds have a special 
associated schedule, titled “International 
Dealings Schedule”. Entities operating 
in Australia that engage in international 
transactions with related overseas entities are 
required to provide information about those 
transactions on this form where its international 
related party dealings (including balance of 
loans) are more than $2 million for a financial 
year.

MULTINATIONAL ANTI-AVOIDANCE (MAAL) & TAX 

TRANSPARENCY MEASURES 

Recent changes have been made to the 
Australian legislation that will impact 
multinationals in relation to the taxation and 
reporting requirements. In summary, the 
changes are set out as follows: 

 » A new multinational anti-avoidance law 
(MAAL), effective from 1 January 2016; 

 » The Country-by-Country reporting 
(CbCR) regime, master file, and local file 
documentation requirements for income 
years commencing on or after 1 Jan 2016; 

 » General purpose financial reports (GPFR) 
are now required to be submitted to the 
ATO, for income years commencing on or 
after 1 July 2016; 

 » Stronger penalties imposed on a significant 
global entity (SGE) that enters into tax 
avoidance or profit shifting schemes called 
Diverted Profits Tax (DPT);

The MAAL took effect in Australia from 1 
January 2016 (regardless of when the scheme 
was entered into), and will apply to tax benefits 
derived after 1 January 2016. The MAAL only 
applies to significant global entities. A significant 
global entity is a multinational group with 
annual global income exceeding A$1 billion. 
Where the MAAL applies, the foreign entity will 
be taxed as if it had made the sales through a 
deemed Australian permanent establishment 
(PE). Higher penalties can potentially also apply.  

The CbC reporting regime requires all Australian 
and foreign groups with an Australian presence 
with global turnover of more than AUD 1 billion 
to lodge three “statements”, being a CbC report, 
the master file and local file with the ATO. These 
reports provide the following information:

 » The CbC report contains information 
on the location of the economic activity 
undertaken by the multinational group 
(includes revenue, headcount, main 
business activities, taxable income and tax 
paid in each tax jurisdiction globally);

 » The master file provides a high-level 
description of the multinational group’s 
business operations; and

 » The local file describes the Australian 
entity’s operations and cross border related 
party dealings.

Please contact Hall Chadwick for 
further information in relation to these 
matters including the completion of 
International Dealings Schedule and 
general advice and documentation in 
relation to transfer pricing.
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an effective mismatch will arise. 

 » Insufficient economic substance test: 

This test is met where it can be reasonably 
concluded based on the information 
available at the time to the Commissioner 
that the transaction was designed to 
secure a tax reduction. An arrangement 
will be taken to have sufficient economic 
substance (so that the DPT will not apply) 
where the non-tax financial benefits of the 
arrangement exceed the financial benefit of 
the tax reduction. 

Who is affected? 

 » Significant global entities (that is, entities 
which, together with any related entities, 
have global annual revenue of $1b or more); 
and 

 » Australia entity’s turnover is $25m or more.

Note that the DPT can and is intended to 
operate in situations where Part IVA and other 
anti avoidance rules which require a dominant 
purpose of obtaining a tax benefit, do not. 

FUNDING THE AUSTRALIAN VENTURE 

Funding of the Australian venture can be 
arranged either in the form of debt, equity, or a 
combination of the two. In this regard a number 
of factors are relevant as follows:

a)    In relation to inward investment 
into Australia, rules exists to restrict 
deductions  for  interest  and related 
expenses to the extent debt funding 
exceeds 60% of the value of the Australian  
assets  of  the  venture, where the interest 
expense exceed $2M for a financial year.  
Transactions need to be arranged having 
regard to this constraint; otherwise a  
denial  of  interest deductions could arise.

b)    Interest   normally   payable   on   loans   
is fully deductible subject to the above 

Which files are required to be lodged in Australia 
will depend on whether they are required to 
be lodged with tax authorities by the foreign 
parent.  Generally an Australian subsidiary is 
required to lodge the master file and local file 
with the ATO, and its parent will lodge the Cbc 
in its own jurisdiction. 

From 1 July 2016, Australian businesses of 
multinational corporations with global income 
of AUD $1 billion are now required to lodge 
general purpose financial statements to the 
ATO by the time of filing the tax returns. 

This may be the global consolidated financial 
statements that include the Australian 
subsidiary company, otherwise the Australian 
subsidiary company would need to prepare 
general purpose financial statements (rather 
than special purpose financial statements). 

Following the enactment of the MAAL, the 
Australian government has also introduced a 
new Diverted Profits Tax (DPT), which applies 
to income years commencing on or after 1 July 
2017. 

Unlike the MAAL, which is aimed at global 
entities which have sought to avoid a taxable 
presence in Australia, the DPT is designed to 
target the multinationals with a taxable presence 
in Australia that transfer profits offshore through 
related party transactions. 

A 40% DPT will arise where two conditions are 

met: 

 » Effective tax mismatch: This arises where 
a cross-border transaction, or a series 
of transactions, between an Australian 
taxpayer and a related party result in a 
reduced Australian tax liability for the 
Australian taxpayer and an increased 
overseas tax liability for the related party. 
For example, if there is a $100 reduction in 
the Australian tax liability, but the related 
party only pays $60 in another jurisdiction, 

Cross Border Tax Considerations
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and the borrowing entity in Australia is 
required to withhold 10% when paid to a 
non-resident.

c)    The difference between debt and equity is 
complex; in essence if there is an effective 
non-contingent obligation on the part of 
the borrower to repay an amount that has 
been lent at some future time, it is debt. 
Otherwise it is equity. The length of the 
agreement will be relevant here. 

d)    Dividends paid on equity investments 
are not deductible to the Australian tax 
payer and are subject to a withholding 
tax of 30% if they are paid out of a pool 
of profits which have not been subject 
to tax in Australia (i.e. they are unfranked 
dividends). This rate of 30% is, however, 
reduced by virtue of a DTA, where 
applicable. The reduced rate can be 15% 
and in some instances as low as 5% or 
0%.

e)    Where the dividends are franked, i.e. they 
are paid out of a pool of profits which 
has already been subject to Australian 
corporate tax, there is no further 
withholding tax.

PULLING IT ALL TOGETHER - PRACTICAL 

CONSIDERATIONS

These include the following three critical 

aspects:

1.    Determine the most appropriate business 
structure to adopt, having regard to the 
nature of the business involved and the 
nature of the participants in the ownership 
of the business. In particular, consider all 
alternatives and identify which structure is 
most appropriate to your needs.

2.    Consider the most appropriate method 
of funding of the business venture having 
regard to factors such as how repatriation 
of profits can be achieved with minimal 
local and foreign taxes.

3.    Give careful consideration to how you 
arrive at pricing in relation to transactions 
between related parties. In particular, 
consider whether the pricing arrived at 
is justifiable having regard to comparable 
arm’s length transactions, and how you 
document the methodology that has been 
used in such a manner so as to satisfy a 
future audit.
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Accounting standards in Australia are set by 
the professional bodies under the umbrella of 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board (APESB), and are given the force of law 
under Corporations Law.

The Australia Accounting Standards are being 
constantly aligned to ensure compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial statements prepared by “reporting entities” 
normally include:

 » Directors’ Report

 » Directors’ Declaration

 » Auditor’s Report

 » Statement of Financial Position

 » Statement of Financial Performance

 » Notes to the Financial Statements

 » Statement of Cash Flows

The disclosure requirements for financial statements 
are set out in the Australian Accounting Standards.

‘Non-reporting entities’ only need to disclose 
abridged financial information.

The normal financial year is from July 1 to June 
30, but there is provision for companies to 
adopt alternative balancing dates, referred to as 
’Substituted Accounting Periods’ .

A company must file an annual return with the 
Australian Securities Commission showing details 
of capital, shareholders, directors and charges on 
the company’s assets. Except in the case of small 
proprietary companies, a copy of the audited 
financial statements must also be filed.

AUDIT REQUIREMENTS

A proprietary company is a company that restricts 
the right to transfer shares, has no more than 50 
non-employee shareholders, and prohibits the 
invitation to subscribe in shares or debentures of 
the company.

A public company is a company that is not a 
proprietary company or is a body corporate 
that is a public company for the purposes of the 
Corporations Law of another jurisdiction.

Australian Corporations Law requires that financial statements be prepared for 

companies operating in Australia. Financial statements must be prepared in 

compliance with accounting standards, except in limited circumstances for small 

and non-reporting proprietary companies.  

Financial Reporting 
and the role of ASIC
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Under certain circumstances a subsidiary of a 
foreign parent or a foreign corporation may have 
reduced audit reporting compliance requirements 
if appropriate class orders are applied for.

Hall Chadwick is an accredited auditor with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(PCAOB). 

Companies which seek to raise public funds 
must adhere to the Corporations Law rules. 
Broadly, such companies can be grouped into 
entities known as “disclosing” entities which are 
subject to continuous disclosure and reporting 
requirements. Such entities include:

 » Entities listed on a stock market

 » Entities raising funds under a prospectus 
document

 » Entities which are the subject of a take-over

 » “Borrowing Corporations”.

Reports for such entities would include half 
yearly reports. Listed companies are also 
subject to the Australian Stock Exchange rules 
– “Listing” and “Business rules.”

A more common vehicle is the “Proprietary 
Limited” – “Pty Ltd” company.

Depending upon the size of a Pty Ltd company, 
financial accounts may be required to be 
submitted to the ASIC and also audited.

Subject to obtaining relief from the ASIC as 
noted below, a company must lodge audited 
financial statements with the ASIC.

A “large” company is one which satisfies at least 
2 of the following conditions:

 »  100 full time employees or more

 »  Consolidated gross revenue of $50 million 
AUD or more

 »  Consolidated gross assets of $25 million 
AUD or more.

If a company is the subsidiary of a foreign 
company, it is automatically required to prepare 
and lodge audited financial statements. 
However, the ASIC can grant relief from this 
requirement if certain tests are met. Please 
contact a Hall Chadwick Partner for details.

SUBSIDIARY OF AN OVERSEAS COMPANY

Financial statements do not need to be lodged 
with the ASIC if an Australian company, which is 
a subsidiary of a foreign corporation:

 » Is not deemed to be a “large” company

 »  Is not part of a “large” group in Australia

 »  The Directors resolve that the company 
meets the above tests

 »  The relevant form is lodged with the ASIC 
(within the prescribed time limits) to 
seek the Commissioner’s approval that 
the lodgement and audit concessions be 
granted.

The financial statements are also not be 
required to be audited.

BRANCH OF OVERSEAS COMPANY

A branch of a foreign company is required to 
lodge with the ASIC at least once every calendar 
year (including the year of registration):

 » A copy of its balance sheet, cash flow and 
profit and loss statement

 » Such other documentation as the company 
is required to prepare by the law applicable 
to the foreign country in its place of origin.

However, a similar relief from reporting may 
be applied for in certain circumstances. The 
ASIC provides a concession from preparation 
and submission of audited financial statements 
such that the compliance burden placed on a 
branch is no more than that on a similar sized 
business incorporated as a proprietary limited 
company in Australia.



47

        hallchadwick.com.au

The conditions for relief from lodging audited financial statements of the foreign company must 
continually be monitored each year. Otherwise, audited financial statements of the foreign company 
(incorporating the Australian branch’s activities) must be submitted on an annual basis.

ROLE OF AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES & INVESTMENTS COMMISSION – ASIC

The ASIC’s role is to protect users of financial accounts, regulate and enforce laws that are applicable 
to Australian Companies and to maintain a public database to provide certainty in commercial 
dealings.

The ASIC is responsible for the registration of Australian and Foreign Companies operating in Australia. 
The ASIC administers futures brokers’, dealers’ and investment advisers’ licences. Registration with 
the ASIC allows a company to operate throughout Australia, without the need to register in individual 
States.

ASIC administers annual returns with audited financial statements that are lodged (unless a 
concession is available) with the ASIC on an annual basis as well as the submission to the ASIC of 
Dealers, Brokers and Advisers reports on a six monthly basis.

Financial Reporting and the role of ASIC
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Other Legal 
Considerations

TRADEMARKS

Australia has laws which provide for the 
exclusive use and enjoyment of a Trademark 
registered in Australia.

Australia has become a member of the Madrid 
protocol from 11th July 2001. This will allow the 
filing of International Trademark Applications.

An International Trademark application can now 
be lodged as a single document which covers 
up to 50 member countries.

The Australian Trademarks Office accepts 
applications. Countries for which coverage is 
required must be nominated in the application.

PATENTS

A patent is legally enforceable in Australia. 
Once registered, the owner of the patent is 
allowed the exclusive use and enjoyment of the 
intellectual property.

COPYRIGHT

Another form of protection in Australia is 
contained in the Copyright Act 1968.

Protection is automatic without the need to 
register. As a result of international treaties, 
such as the Berne Convention, most foreign 
copyright owners are protected in Australia.

TRADE PRACTICES LAW

The Trade Practices Law that operates in 
Australia governs Competition Law, the liability 
of companies for product failure as well as 

enforcing a regime of proper practice by 
corporations in the conduct of trade.

The legislation prohibits various business 
practices, such as primary and secondary 
boycotting, third line forcing, resale price 
maintenance and misuse of market power. 
Certain exemptions can be claimed from 
the Australian Competition and Consumer 
Commission (ACCC) to allow various business 
practices to operate  notwithstanding their 
prohibitions. However, permission needs  to 
be granted first by the ACCC who have to be 
satisfied as to the utility of the conduct sought 
to be approved.

The Trade Practices Law that operates in 
Australia governs Competition Law, the liability 
of companies for product failure as well as 
enforcing a regime of proper practice by 
corporations in the conduct of trade. Australian 
Trade Practices Law also prohibits misleading 
and deceptive actions by individuals or by 
corporations in the conduct of business. 
Damages can be awarded against companies 
that engage in such practices and prosecutions 
can also be invoked.

Finally, manufacturers will be responsible for 
any liability of their product under the Trade 
Practices Laws. Care needs to be taken by 
manufacturers to ensure that products are safe 
and capable of operating as intended.

Hall Chadwick works with businesses to obtain 
any necessary advice for our clients and can 
make necessary introductions to specialist legal 
practitioners in this area if required.
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INDUSTRIAL LAW IN AUSTRALIA

Australia has a number of legal instruments that 
govern employment relationships in Australia. 
First and foremost, and establishing a foundation 
in the employment context, is the common law, 
which has developed over the centuries and 
is sourced from the law of England. The basic 
principles of Contract Law and Commercial Law 
affect employment relations between employers 
and employees.

There are a number of unique features to 
Australian Employment and Industrial Law. 
These include the system of Awards which are 
essentially Court orders emanating from various 
industrial tribunals around the Commonwealth. 
These Awards regulate the work practices and 
conditions of many Australian employees.

In addition there is legislation sourced from 
a number of Acts including the various State 
Industrial Relations Acts, the Federal Workplace 
Relations Act as well as Work Safety legislation 
found in the various jurisdictions.

Hall Chadwick can provide 

practical and valuable advice 

on most employment matters 

and make any necessary 

introductions to lawyers who 

specialise in Industrial Relations 

in Australia. 
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MEDICARE LEVY SURCHARGE

2018-19 

And

2019-20
$ Tier 1 $ Tier 2 $ Tier 3 $

Singles 0 - 
90,000

90,001 - 
105,000

105,001 - 
140,000

140,001 +

Families1 0 - 
180,000

180,001 - 
210,000

210,001 - 
280,000

280,001 +

1. For families with 2 or more dependants who are children, the surcharge thresholds to 

tiers 1, 2 and 3 are increased by $1,500 for each dependent child after the first child. 

Surcharge amount depends on the taxable income, reportable fringe benefits of the 

taxpayer, reportable superannuation contributions, and net investment losses (i.e. “income 

for surcharge purposes”).

MEDICARE LEVY SURCHARGE

RESIDENT TAX RATES - 2020-21

Taxable income $ Tax payable $ (excludes medicare)

0 - 18,200 Nil

18,201 - 45,000 Nil + 19% of excess over 18,200

45,001 - 120,000 5,092 + 32.5% of excess over 45,000

120,001 - 180,000 29,467, + 37% of excess over 120,000

180,000 + 51,667 + 45% of excess over 180,000

NON-RESIDENT TAX RATES - 2020-21

Taxable income $ Tax payable $

0 - 120,000 32.5%

120,001 - 180,000 39,000 plus 37% of excess over 120,000

180,001 + 61,200 plus 45% excess over 180,000

COMPANY TAX RATE 2020-21

1. A Base Rate Entity is one which has aggregated turnover of less than $50M for 

the year ended 30 June 2020 and passive income of no more than 80% of total 

assessable income. 

2. Different time periods apply for companies with a substituted accounting period. 

Income year Tax rate %

Companies other than Base Rate Entities 30

Companies that are Base Rate Entities 261
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The general rate of the Medicare levy is 2% of taxable income, subject to exclusions and 

reduced levy as per table below.

1. Entitled to Senior and Pensioner Tax Offset (SAPTO).  Eligible seniors will not pay Medicare 

levy until they begin to incur an income tax liability.

Note: the thresholds for 2020-21 are unlikely to be known until May 2021 (usually 

announced in the Budget). 

MEDICARE LEVY - 2019-20 THRESHOLDS

Taxpayer
No levy if income does not 

exceed $

individual 22,801

Members of a family with: (family income)

0 dependents 38,474

1 dependent 42,007

Each additional dependent

Senior and pensioner Australians1

+3,533

36,056

Senior Australian w/spouse and 0 
dependents

50,191

Each additional dependent +3,533

1. 4% rate may be available if contractual arrangements were entered into before 16 September 1987.

2. May include buildings used for R&D activities.

BUILDING WRITE-OFF

Type Construction 
commenced

Rate %

Short-term traveller 
accommodation

16/9/87 – 26/2/92

27/2/92 onwards

2.5

4.0

Non-residential income 
producing

22/8/84 - 15/9/87

16/9/87 onwards

4.0

2.5

All income producing
18/7/85 - 15/9/87

16/9/87 onwards

4.0

2.5¹

Industrial activities and 
certain buildings connected to 
industrial activities

27/2/92 onwards 4.0

SMALL BUSINESS ENTITIES - 2020-21

• Immediate write-off the full value of an eligible depreciable asset acquired from 7:30pm 
AEDT on 6 October 2020 and first used or installed by 30 June 2022 for businesses with 
aggregated turnover < $5 billion, but can opt out by choice and claim depreciation under 
other rules (see below).1  

• Immediate deduction for depreciating assets costing less than $150,0002

• Immediate deduction for depreciating assets costing less than $30,0003

• Other depreciating assets allocated to general small business pool4

• Deduction of 50% of cost or opening adjustable value of an eligible asset more than 
$150,0005

• Deduction (on diminishing value basis) is generally opening pool balance x 30% for 
general pool. Half pool rate (i.e. 15%) for new acquisitions (in the first year).

• Certain depreciating assets are excluded, e.g. buildings.

1. Full expensing in the year of first use will apply to new depreciating assets and the cost 
of improvements to existing eligible assets. Eligible businesses with aggregated turnover 
less than $50 million can immediately deduct new or second-hand assets.

2. Eligible businesses with aggregated turnover less than $500 million, for assets installed 
and ready for use between 12 March 2020 to 30 June 2021 (extended from the original 
date of 31 December 2020).  

3. Eligible businesses with aggregated turnover less than $50 million, for assets installed 
and ready for use between 2 April 2019 to 11 March 2020.

4. Eligible businesses with aggregated turnover less than $10 million can deduct the entire 
balance of the pool at the end of the income year while full expensing applies. 

5. Eligible business with aggregated turnover less than $500 million, for assets acquired 
after 12 March 2020 but before 6 October 2020.

2020-21 repayment income thresholds and rates

Repayment income (RI) Repayment rate

Below $46,620 Nil

$46,620 - $53,826 1.0%

$53,827 - $57,055 2.0%

$57,056 – $60,479 2.5%

$60,480 - $ 64,108 3%

$64,109 - $67,954 3.5%

$67,955 - $72,031 4%

$72,032 - $76,354 4.5%

$76,355 - $80,935 5%

$80,936 - $85,792 5.5%

$85,793 - $90,939 6%

$90,940 - $96,396 6.5%

$96,397 - $102,179 7%

$102,180 - $108,309 7.5%

$108,310 - $114,707 8%

$114,708 - $121,999 8.5%

$121,699 - $128,999 9%

$129,000 - $136,739 9.5%

$136,740 and above 10%

The following table is a list of repayment thresholds and rates for compulsory 
repayment of HELP debts for 2020-21.

HELP REPAYMENT THRESHOLD
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SUPPLIES NOT SUBJECT TO GST

GOODS & SERVICES TAX

GST - free supplies Input tax supplies

Basic Food Financial Supplies

Health Residential rent

Education Residential premises

Child care Precious metals

Exports
School tuckshops 
and canteens

Religious Services
Fund-raising 
events - charitable 
institutions

Non-commercial activities 
- charitable institutions

Raffles - charitable 
institutions

Water and sewerage

Supplies of going concern

International Trade: 
Certain Transport Services

Precious Metals

Supplies made by inwards 
duty free shops

Grants of freehold land by 
Governments

Farm land

Cars for use by disabled 
persons

International mail

Rate 47%

Fringe benefits gross-up factor – Type 1 2.0802

Fringe benefits gross-up factor – Type 2 1.8868

Car parking threshold $8.95

1.  Motor vehicle depreciation cost limit is $59,136 in FY 2021.

2. 72 cents per kilometre to a maximim of 5,000 business kilometres.

BENEFITS SUBJECT TO FRINGE BENEFITS TAX

Cars Board meals

Debt waivers Meal entertainment

Loans
Entertainment provided by tax 

exempt bodies

Expense payments Car parking

Housing
Property benefits (if not 

otherwise covered by the above)

Living away from 

home allowances

Residual benefits (if not 

otherwise covered by the above)

Airline transport

Year Prescribed support

2019 -2020 9.5%

2020 - 2021 9.5%

2021 - 2022 10%

2022 - 2023 10.5%

2023 - 2024 11%

2024 - 2025 11.5%

From 1 July 2025 12%

SUPERANNUATION GUARANTEE CONTRIBUTION

FRINGE BENEFITS TAX (FBT)

MOTOR VEHICLE USE
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LAND TAX

The thresholds for land values change each year and are 
applied as follows:

• General threshold: $100 plus 1.6 per cent of land value 
above the threshold, up to the premium threshold.

• Premium threshold: $61,876 plus two per cent of land value 
above the threshold.

• The threshold is published in the Government Gazette in 
October each year and is applied to land holdings on 31 
December each year.

• Land tax is applied for the full year following the taxing 
date of 31 December, and no pro-rata calculation applies. 

Tax year General threshold Premium threshold

2021 $755,000 $4,616,000

2020 $734,000 $4,488,000

NSW STATE TAXES

Property’s value Rate of stamp duty

0 – $14,000 1.25 of the property’s value

$14,001 - $30,00 $350 plus 2.4% for every dollar over 
$25,000

$30,001 - $80,000 $415 plus 1.75% of every dollar over 
$30,000

$80,001 - $300,000 $1,290 plus 3.5% of every dollar over 
$80,000

$300,001 - $1,000,000 $8,990 plus 4.5% of every dollar over 
$300,000

$1,000,001 - 
$3,000,000

$40,490 plus 5.5% of every dollar 
over $1 million

$3,000,001 and over $150,490 plus 7% of every dollar over 
$3 million

DUTY ON TRANSFER OF REAL PROPERTY

Monthly gross wages Annual gross wages Rate

Up to $101,918 Up to $1,200,000 Nil

Excess above $101,918 Excess above $1,200,000 4.85%

PAYROLL TAX



54

DOING BUSINESS IN AUSTRALIA 

Appendix B:  
Case 
Studies
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CASE STUDY  1

FACTS:

On 1 November 2020, a US investor buys an office 
block in Melbourne, Australia, for $12 million. The 
investor intends to purchase the property through 
an Australian private company, which will be directly 
and wholly owned by the investor’s US corporation.

The overseas investor plans to arrange a loan of $11 
million to be provided by an Australian bank at 6.25% 
interest only. The balance of the purchase cost will 
be financed by equity.

During the year ending 30 June 2022, the projected 
rental income is expected to be $800,000. The 
interest expense will be $990,000 and there should 
be other incidental expenses of $100,000.

The overseas investor plans to sell the Australian 
property in  August 2024 at  its projected market 
value of $15 million. It plans to repatriate the funds to 
the home country.

Question:

What Australian tax and related issues should the 
investor be aware of?

Considerations:

•    FIRB
•    Location of the entity to own the shares in the 

Australian company
•    Unit trust rather than company
•    GST
•    Legal fees
•    Land Tax
•    Thin capitalisation
•    Debt / equity
•    Loan from an Australian bank vs. loan from an 

offshore bank
•    Depreciation and other deductions
•    Losses
•    Capital gain on sale
•    Repatriation of funds
•    Return on investment
•    Tax treaty issues
•    Withholding tax

CASE STUDY  2
FACTS:

A Hong Kong investor wishes to purchase a hotel in 
Sydney as a joint venture with a European investor. 
Their long-term intention is to acquire more hotels 
in other Australian locations and sell or float the 
Australian business. They have substantial funds for 
the purchase of the first hotel.

As a separate venture, they are also considering 
franchising the hotel name, so they will receive 
commissions / royalties from new hotels, whereby 
they will own the real estate but will not operate the 
hotel business, i.e. they would be landlords.

Question:

The investors have asked for advice on all the issues 
they should consider before proceeding with the 
investment?

Considerations:

•    Structuring each investment - unincorporated or 
incorporated joint venture, partnership or joint 
venture?

•    Tax treaty issues
•    Funding, including thin capitalisation
•    GST
•    Losses
•    Depreciation / balancing adjustments
•    Capital gain on sale
•    Repatriation of funds
•    Return on investment
•    Withholding tax on royalties
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DISCLAIMER

This material contained within this document published by Hall Chadwick Melbourne is intended to be a brief guide only for investors and 

business operators considering entering the Australian market place. Entry into Australia may take the form of a subsidiary of a distinct 

entity, a subsidiary of an overseas parent, a foreign corporation appropriately registered, or an individual wishing to work in Australia. 

Foreign trusts and partnerships involving resident and non-resident entities can also be accommodated. No decisions should be made 

solely on the material contained in this document.  The points raised in this guide should be viewed as general in nature and may be liable 

to misinterpretation.  Each specific set of circumstances will need to be dealt with by professional advisers. The rapid pace of legislative 

change in many areas also necessitates all strategies to be reviewed specifically at the relevant time. In light of this it is recommended that 

advice be sought before acting in any of these areas.

All Hall Chadwick firms are independent members of both Hall Chadwick Association (HCA) and Prime Global. HCA and Prime Global 

are national and worldwide associations respectively and do not and cannot offer any professional services in their own names. Each 

independent member of Hall Chadwick Association and Prime Global is a separate firm. These member firms are not members of an 

international partnership or otherwise legal partners with each other. No firm is responsible for the services or activities of any other 

member firm, and they do not act on behalf of Hall Chadwick Association or Prime Global or other member firms.

The relationship between any client and a Hall Chadwick firm cannot be extended to Prime Global or any other member firm of Prime 

Global or any other office of Hall Chadwick in Australia and only the Hall Chadwick firm engaged by you can be held responsible towards 

you as a client regarding any issues relating to the present engagement(s).

All member firms of the Hall Chadwick Association are subject to liability capping. Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional 

standards legislation.
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